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named in the constitution and by-laws, and particularly when his
action in this regard was supported by a long habit of doing so with
members without objection from any quarter; and the jury was in-
structed accordingly upon this point. I find nothing on this motion
which has been sufficient to change my view of this. As was stated
on the trial, I find the view which I hold upon this point amply sus-
tained by a recent opinion of the supreme court of Tennessee. The
only other disagreement that existed, or now exists, in the case, is a
disagreement between the defendant and the jury, and this relates
to the facts, and relates to a point in respect of which there was a
conflict in the testimony. This conflict was mainly between V. 8.
‘Whiteside, a witness for the plaintiff, and O’Donohue, witness for the
defendant, and related to assessment No. 156. On January 31, 1896,
Hugh Whiteside wrote a letter to Mr. O’Donohue, in which were con-
tained precisely the same statements made by V. 8. Whiteside on the
witness stand; and in his answer to that communication Mr. O'Dono- .
hue did not deny a single statement in the letter. So that in this
respect Mr. V. 8. Whiteside is strongly corroborated. In addition to
that, the proofs made it very plain that Mr. O’Donohue was mis-
taken about a previous assessment, namely, No. 155, in regard to
which he was just as positive as he was in regard to No. 156; and
the records of the conclave, as far as any were kept, did not sustain
Mr. O'Donohue’s testimony. I think the jury were well warranted
in believing what Mr. Whiteside said upon this subject. Indeed, I
do not well see how they could have found otherwise upon this point
of conflict. ‘

There was no objection to the charge of the court as made to the
jury, and the attention of one of the defendant’s attorneys was called
to the fact of the necessity of making such objection at the time, if
there existed any. It was within the peculiar province of the jury
to pass upon the facts about which there was a conflict, and I do not
perceive that there is anything in the case upon which I can disturb
the verdict of the jury. Motion for a new trial is consequently over-
ruled.

COX v. ROBINSON.
(Circult Court of Appeals, Ninth Circuit. June 7, 1897)
No. 314

1. BANKS—AUTHORITY OF OFPICER—ESTOPPEL.

‘When the directors of a bank permit an officer to hold himself out to the
public as being invested with absolute power to manage and control its affairs,
in such manner and for such length of time as to lead innocent persons to
make contracts with him, honestly believing that he has the authority he
claims, the bank cannot repudiate such contracts.

2, SAME—ASSIGNMENT OF JUDGMENT.

A national bank, owner of a judgment for the payment of which defendant
was bound, through its vice president assigned such judgment to defendant:
the consideration being the transfer by defendant to the vice president of
another judgment, which the latter had obligated himself individually to pay,
but in the interest of the bank. The vice president had no express authority
from the directors to make the assignment, but he was the largest stock-
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" holder, a director, and had long been the principal acting officer, of the banlk.
~and general manager of its business, exercising the power of transferring
its property and indorsing its notes, with the knowledge and acquiescence
of the directors, and he was generally ceputed in the community to be its
owner. Held, In an action by the receiver of the bank, that the jury were
Justified in finding that the vice president had authority to malke the assign-
ment, and that the bank received a consideration therefor.

In Error to the Circuit Court of the United States for the Southern
Division of the District of Washington.

The nature of this action, the general character of the evidence in-
troduced, and the principles of law involved therein, are set forth in
the charge of the court to the jury, as follows:

“The plaintiff in this case, Mr, Richard T. Cox, sues, as receiver of the Fiist
National Bank of Arlington, Oregon, to recover from the defendant, J. L. Robin-
son, the amount of a judgment which the bank obtained against a man named
N. Cecil. The action iIs brought against Robinson for the reason that Robinson
became surety for the amount that the bank should recover in the action against
Cecil, in consideration of discharging a writ of attachment which had been levied
on the property of Cecil. The fact that the judgment was recovered by the baunk
against Cecil is not denled. The fact that Robinson entered into an obligation
to pay whatever amount should be recovered in the action is not denied. The suit
is resisted on the ground that the bank, which Cox represents as receiver, Is not
the owner of the judgment; that the judgment has been transferred by an as-
signment from the bank to the defendant, Mr. Robinson, for good consideration.
There has been introduced in evidence a paper which is a certified copy of a
purported assignment and transfer of this judgment on the record of the court
in which the Judgment was entered. 'This assignment and transfer purport to
have been made by the First National Bank of Arlington, Oregon, by J. E. Frick,
vice president. The whole case turns upon the question whether or not Mr.
Frick had authority to transfer this judgment to Mr. Robinson. That he was vice
president of the bank is not disputed, but it is disputed that he had any authority
to transfer this judgment. And it is also disputed that the bank received any
consideration for the transfer of the judgment. The plaintiff claims that it was
illegal on these two grounds: That Frick was not authorized to do that kind of
business, and that the bank received no consideration for the transfer of the
judgment. On the question as to the consideration for the transfer, I instruct
you: First, to constitute a sufficient consideration to give validity to the contract,
it is necessary that the bank should have received consideration, or that Robinson
should have parted with something that would constitute a consideration. 'There
must have been either something moving to the bank, or something moving from
Robinson, to constitute a good consideration to make the transfer legal. And it
is immaterial whether it was one or the other. It must be one; but, if Robinson
parted with something of value In consideration of this transfer, it has the same
effect, in law, whether the bank received it or not, that it would if the bank re-
ceived something. But further, on that point, the evidence shows that that which
Robinson gave as consideration was the assignment of a judgment in his favor
against Hoy & Butler. That transfer was made to Frick. Now, if Frick received
a valid assignment of the judgment in favor of Robinson, and consideration for
that moved from the First National Bank of Arlington to Mr. Robinson.,—if the
value which Robinson received came from the bank, and not from Mr, Frick,—it
would still be a valid consideration moving from Robinson to the bank, because
there would be a resulting trust in favor of the bank. And whatever Frick re-
ceived, when acting for the bank, in consideration of the assets or property of
the bank that he transferred, would not be his, although it appeared on the record
to be In his name. He would take in trust for the bank, and it would be the
property of the bank, in fact and in law. Now, as to the authority which Frick,
as vice president of this bank, actually had to do this business: The law providing
for creation of national banks does not provide for any such officer, by name, as
‘general manager.” It does provide for a president and vice president. The duties
and powers of the president and vice president are not defined in the law. In gen-
eral, the vice president acts in place of the president,—has the pewer and authority
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which belongs to the president,—in the absence of the president; but the ldiw has
not defined the powers of either president or vice president. The powers of the
corporation are vested in a board of trustees. They possess the power to do the
business of the bank; but in the transaction of ordinary business of the bank
the depositors and creditors, and all who deal with the bank, seldom deal directly
with the board of trustees. But the business of a bank is continuous, and its
doors must be open to transact business with the public during business hours,
and the business transactions of a bank necessarily have to be performed by
rgents; and whoever acts for the bank as an agent, with the knowledge and con-
sent of the board of trustees, is to be deemed authorized by the board of trustees
to perform the powers which the law vests in the board of trustees. The power
of any officer may be limited, or it may be extended. He may have general pow-
ers. General powers may be conferred upon him by the by-laws, by resolution
of the board of directors, or by the assumption of those powers with the knowl-
edge and acquiescence of the board of trustees. Now, an officer of the bank, acting
for it,—transacting its business,—1s presumed in the law to have the powers which
he assumes publicly with the knowledge and acquiescence.of the board of trus.
tees, whether evidence of his powers is contained in the records of the corporation,
or in a written instrument or resolution, or whether it simply rests in the fact
that the powers are continuously and publicly exercised, and not disatfirmed by
the action of the board of trustees. The board of trustees are presumed by the
law to see what is made apparent before the eyes of the public in the actions
of their agents or officers. 'They are presumed to see what the public see in the
actions of an agent or an official. Now, you have heard the evidence in this case,
and it is not pretended that there was a resolutlon or written instrument giving
to Frick whatever powers he had of a general or special character. They are to
be determined by the manmer in which the business of the bank was done. Such
powers ‘as he continually, during the existence of the bank, exercised publicly,
must be presumed to have been exercised with the knowledge of the board of
trustees; and unless they have disaffirmed or denied, by some public declaration,
his right to exercise those powers, they are deemed to have acquiesced and as-
sented that he might continue to exercise those powers, and they are bound by
his acts in behalf of the bank. This, being a civil action, is one which the rules
of evidence require the jury to decide according to the fair preponderance of the
evidence. You should endeavor to harmonize the testimony of the different wit-
nesses as far as it can be. 'Where there Is a conflict in the testimony that is ir-
reconcilable, you must weigh the evidence on one side against that opposed, and
decide according to a fair preponderance of the evidence. The defendant comes
here asserting the validity of this transfer of the judgment. He has the affirma-
tive, and the burden of proof is upon him to establish that there was a valid trans-
fer of the judgment to him,; and he must make it out by at least a fair pre-
ponderance of the evidence. If the evidence preponderates against him, or is
balanced evenly, so you cannot determine on which side there is a fair preponder-
ance of the evidence, you must decide against the defendant, and in that case the
plaintiff would be entitled to a verdict for the amount sued for. If you do find,
however, by a fair preponderance of the evidence, facts which, when applied to
the case under the rules I have given you, determine that Frick was authorized
by the board of trustees to act in a matter of this kind,—to transfer a judgment
in behalf of the bank,—and that he did make the transfer— I say, if those facts
are established by a fair preponderance of the evidence, then your verdict must
be for the defendant. ' An officer of a natiorial bank, either vice president or other
officer, or person who is acting as general manager therefor, has no authority to
assign or transfer any claim for money due, in any event, unless expressly au-
thorized to do so, without payment of the amount due on such claim.” 70 Fed.
760.

Cozx, Cotton, Teal & Minor and B. L. & J. L. Sharpstein, for plaintiff
in error.
Thomas H. Brents and Wellington Clark, for defendant in error.

Before GILBERT and ROSS, Circuit Judges, and HAWLEY, Dis-
trict Judge.-
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HAWLEY, District Judge (after stating the facts as above). About
the time the First National Bank of Arlington, Or., sued out the at-
tachment against Cecil, Robinson, the defendant in error, sued out an
attachment in the same county against one L. D. Hoy and one Charles
Butler, as partners under the firm name of Hoy & Butler, for a sum in
excess of the amount for which the bank sued Cecil, and caused a
garnishment to be served on the First National Bank of Arlington.
Afterwards Hoy & Butler, as principals, and J. E, Frick, as surety,
executed a bond or undertaking whereby they agreed to pay to defend-
ant in error the amount of any judgment which he should recover in
said action, and thereby procured the discharge of his attachment.
The contention of the defendant is that, in the adjustment of these
Judgments, Frick, on behalf of the bank, and in its name, and as its
vice president, ass1gned to him the bank’s judgment against Cecil, and
that he assigned to Frick his judgment against Hoy & Butler, takmg
from Frick his personal note for some $1,200, and a few dollars in
cash to cover the difference in amount between the two judgments;
that in executing the bond as surety for Hoy & Butler, and in assign-
ing the judgment of the bank against Cecil, Frick acted for the bank
as its managing agent. The contention of the plaintiff in error is
that there is no evidence tending to show any authority in Mr. Frick
to transfer the Cecil judgment, The argument on behalf of the plain-
tiff is to the effect that the cashier of a bank iz the executive officer
of the bank, through whom the entire financial operations of the bank
are conducted; that neither the cashier nor any other officer could
make any contract involving the payment of money or transfer of
property without express authority from the directors; that there was
no such officer as “general manager” or “managing agent” of the bank
known to the law, or mentioned in the by-laws of the corporation;
that the evidence was wholly insufficient to justify a jury in finding
that Frick had any authority to bind the bank in the transaction be-
tween himself and Robinson; that his acts in attempting to do so were
never ratified by the directors ; that the bank received no considera-
tion for the transfer of the Cecil judgment, and that the entire trans-
action was in the personal interest of Frick, and that this fact was
known to Robinson at the time of the transfer of the respective judg-
ments; that the clause in the charge of the court, that “Frick’s au-
thority to act was to be determined by the manner in which the ordi-
nary business of the bank ,was transacted,” and the clause in the
charge, “it is sufficient if Robinson parted with something of value,”
etc.,, were erroneous; and that the courterred in not instructing the
jury to find a verdict for the plaintiff.

(1) Did Frick have authority to transfer the Cecil judgment to Rob-
fnson?’ (2) Did the bank receive any benefit from the transaction?
(3) Did the court err in submitting these questions to the jury? (4)
Are the principles of law announced in the charge of the court erro-
neous?

The correspondence between Frick and Robinson (which is copied
in full in the dissenting opinion), considered by itself, tends verv
strongly to sustain the contention of the plaintiff in error that the
agsignments of the respective judgments by Frick and Robingon were
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transactions between them as individuals. If the case rested upon
that testimony alone, it may be that the judgment should be reversed.
But the entire testimony must be considered. The record show.s that
Frick, as vice president, was expressly authorized by a resolution of
the board of directors to transact such business “as would be trans-
acted by the president, were he in the county.” The assignment of
the Cecil judgment purports upon its face to have been made by the
bank. It reads as follows:

“Know all men by these presents, that the First National Bank of Arlington,
a corporation, for a valuable consideration to it paid by J. L. Robinson, the receipt
whereof is hereby acknowledged, has sold, assigned, and transferred, and does by
these presents sell, assign, and transfer, to said J. L. Robinson, all its right,
title, and interest in and to that certain judgment entered in the circuit court
of the state of Oregon for Gillilam county on April 18th, 1893, in favor of said
First National Bank, and against N, Cecil, for $3,833.23, and $300.00 attorney’s
fees, and $149.46 costs, which said judgment 1s docketed in the Judgment Lien
Docket of said county, at page 55 thereof.

“First National Bank, Arlington, Ore.
“J. B. Frick, Vice Pres.”

Robinson testified that he had transacted considerable business
with the bank through Frick, that Frick always acted as general
manager of the bank, and that Frick made the proposition to him to
settle the judgments by transferring the same. . “He assigned the
judgment of the bank to me, and 1 assigned the Hoy & Butler judg-
ment to him, and I took his note for the difference. * * * Frick
represented the bank. He seemed to be manager of the bank’s af-
fairs, and represented himself in that way. He signed the judgment,
‘The First National Bank of Arlington, by J. E. Frick, Vice President.
He represented to me that be was doing business for the bank. That
was my understanding; it was all done for the bank; he assigning me
that judgment.” Several other witnesses testified to the effect that
Frick was not only the vice president and acting president of the bank,
but its managing director, and the active agent in all its business af-
fairs and transactions; that he was the principal stockholder thereof;
that the public regarded him as bhaving unlimited power to transact
any business in which the bank was interested; that the bank was
known in the community as “Frick’s Bank”; that the power of trans-
ferring the property of the bank had been exercised by Frick in other
cases with the knowledge of, and without objection on the part of,
the directors of the bank; that he had indorsed the bills and notes of
the bank in order to secure loans for the bank, and had disposed of
other kinds of property belonging to the bank. J. A. Blakely, who
was connected with the bank at different times as director and vice
president, testified on behalf of defendant that Frick “was the gen-
eral manager of the bank, so far as transacting its business was con-
cerned.,” He gave several instances where, in transacting various
kinds of business, Frick acted as agent and manager of the bank, and
stated that the directors took no action that he was aware of to pre-
vent Frick “from transacting the business which he did.” Dan
O’Connor was acquainted with the bank for four years; knew the gen-
eral repute and understanding in the community as to the authority
of Frick to represent the bank. He testified that:
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It was generally called ‘Frick’s Bahk.’ I know nothing more as to his au-
thority than that he was regarded, so far as I know, as the manager of the bank,
and the owner of it. * * * The general reputation in the community in which
I live was to the effect that this bank was Frick’s bank, This community ‘took
in part of Oregon, and all of Klikitat county [Wash.]”

Several other witnesses testified substantially to the same effect.

Mr. Frick testified on behalf of the plaintiff in error that he was the
wice president, and acted as such “sometimes with the knowledge of
the directors, and sometimes without”; that in transacting the busi-
ness of the bank he took the title to property for the bank in his own
name, orthe name of the cashier of the bank—
“And thie directors would know nothing about ‘it until they happened to see it
in examlnjng the bank, * * * The assignment of the judgment of Robinson
in this case against Hoy & Butler was made to me in order to release me from
Hablility for its payment, and from liability assumed by me for the benefit of the
bank upon the undertaking already referred to. * * * I had very grave doubts
at the time of transacting this business whether I had a legal right to do it or
not, * * * I was led in the matter of signing the bond through my relations
with the bank, and s1gned this bond where in no event it could be of any value to
me, except beneﬁts arising through the bank.”

In reply-to the question, “Were you not recognized by the directors
of the bank, and by the public and those dealing with the bank, as
the general superintendent and manager of its business, and as hav—
ing full authority to transact any kind of business for it?” he said, “I
was recognized by the public as being the main official of the bank in
transacting all business, and at the same time only had. the authority
of a vice president.” The books of the bank show that Frick was
elected director and vice president of the bank for five successive
years, from 1890 to 1894, inclusive, “and that his acts, as such vice
president, in the way of indorsing and transferring the notes aund
other securities belonging to said bank, were at the different times
ratified :and confirmed by said board of directors.” The cashier of
the bank testified that the vice president and himself assisted each
other in the management of the bank; that—

“Puring the operation of the bank it became necessary for the bank to borrow
or raise money, and for the bank to transfer or pledge security for that purpose.
* * * Sometimes the board of directors authorized us to do this, and in other
cases they did not. * * * T recollect of several Instances of such loans being
made and such securities being pledged without the ratification being shown in the
minutes. * * * Frick made transactions in the general management of the
business of the bank without consulting me.”

Did the court err in refusing to instruct the jury to find a verdict
for the plaintiff? The national courts have uniformly held that a
case should not be withdrawn from the consideration of the jury
unless the conclusion follows, as matter of law, that no recovery can
be had upon any view which can be properly taken of the facts the
evidence tends to establish. Beatty v. Association, 21 C. C. A. 227,
75 Fed. 65, 68, and authorities there cited. In Railway Co. v.
Lowery, 20 C. C. A. 596, 74 Fed. 463, there is an elaborate review of
the English as well as of the American caseg, resulting in the con-
clusion that to justify the court in withdrawing the case from the
jury the evidence must be so insufficient in fact as to be insufficient
in law, amounting to an absence of any material and substantial
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evidence which if credited by the jury would in law justify a verdict
in favor of the other party; that it is the duty of the trial court, when
a motion is made to direct a verdict, to take that view of the evidence
most favorable to the party against whom it is desired that a verdict
should be directed, and from that evidence, and the inferences rea-
sonably and justifiably to be drawn therefrom, determine whether or
not, under the law, a verdict might be found for that party. In the
light of all the evidence, we are of opinion that it was within the ex-
clusive province of the jury to determine whether or not Frick had
the authority to transfer the Cecil judgment, and to represent the
bank in the transaction with Robinson, and whether or not the
business was transacted on his part for the bank or for himself.
Merchants’ Bank v. State Bank, 10 Wall. 604, 644, 649; Trust Co. v.
Howell (Minn.) 61 N. W. 141; Kraniger v. Building Soc., Id. 904;
Mining Ass’n v. Meredith, 49 Md. 389, 401; Reed v. Railroad Co., 120
Mass. 43, 46; Prescott v. Flinn, 9 Bing. 22; Collins v. Cooper, 65 Tex.
460; Cooper v. Schwartz, 40 Wis. 54; 2 Mor. Priv. Corp. § 633; 4
Thomp. Corp. § 4644. The jury had the right to fairly infer from
all the evidence that Frick had the authority, with the knowledge
and consent of the directors of the bank, in relation to the powers
usually exercised by the vice president, and the custom and usage
of the bank in its general business dealings with its customers in
the community, to make the contract with Robinson for the bank.
It is unnecessary to attempt any general definition of the duties of
the respective officers of banking cornorations. The usage is not
uniform in different cities, and sometimes not the same in different
institutions in the same city. Countrv banks, and banks in small
towns and cities, have different rules from those in large cities. Of
course, there are certain general rules as to the duties of the cash-
ier, teller, president, or directors. Courts have oftentimes recog-
nized the fact, and have frequently decided that these officers have
or have not either exclusive or concurrent powers to do certain acts
of the nature designated in the particular case. Customs have
sprung up from the necessity and the convenience of business in cer-
tain localities, and have prevailed in duration and extent until they
have acquired in such localities the force of law. In the present
case it is the exceptional class with which we have to deal. It is
now well settled by the weight of reason and authority that when-
ever, in the usual course of the business of the corporation, the presi-
dent or other officer has been allowed to manage and control its af-
fairs, his authority to represent and bind the corporation may be
implied from the manner in which he has been permitted by the
trustees or directors of the corporation to transact its business. The
acting head of the corporation, whether it is the president, vice presi-
dent, cashier, or general manager, through whom and by whom the
general and usuval affairs of the corporation are transacted which
custom or necessity has imposed upon the officer,—such acts being
incident to the execution of the trust reposed in him,—may be per-
formed by him without express authority; and in such cases it is im-
material whether such authority exists by virtue of his office, or is
imposed by the course of business as conducted by the corporation.
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Mining Co. v. Anglo-Californian Bank, 104 U. 8. 192, 194; Sparks v.
Transfer Co., 104 Mo. 531, 539, 15 S, W 417, Wasmngton Sav. Bank
v. Butchers’ & Drovers’ Bank ’107 Mo. 134, 144 17 8. W. 644; Lee v.
Mining Co., 56 How. Prac. 373 Bank of Batav1a v. New York L. E.
& W. R. Co., 106 N. Y. 195, 199, 12 N. E. 433; Calvert v. Stage Co.,
25 Or. 412, 414, 36 Pac. 24; Ceeder v. Lumber Co., 86 Mich. 541, 49
N. W. 575; Davenport v. Stone (Mich.)- 62 N, W. 722; Libby v. Bank,
99 IlL 622 630; Kraniger v. Building Ass'n (an) 61 N W. 904;
Dougherty v. Hunter 54 Pa. St. 381; Hamm v. Drew, 83 Tex. 77, 81
18 8. W. 434; Carrlgan v. Improvement Co., 6 Wash. 590, 34 Pac
148; Bank v. Wintler (Wash.) 45 Pac. 38; 1 Mor. Priv. Oorp. § 509;
4 Thomp. Corp. § 4883.

In Merchants’ Bank v. State Bank, 10 Wall. 604, 644, which was a
case involving the power and authority of the cashier of a state bank
to buy and sell exchange, coin, and bullion, and to certify checks as
being “good,” and thereby to bind the bank for the payment thereof,
the trial court instructed the jury to find a verdict for defendant.
The questions argued by counsel were in several respects similar to
the argument of counsel in this case. Referring to the subject of
the authority of the cashier to make the purchase of the coin and
bullion, the court said:

“(2) It should have been left to the jury to determine whether, from the evi
dence as to the powers exercised by the cashier with the knowledge and acquies-
cence of the directors, and the usage of other banks in the same city, it might not
be fairly inferred that Smith had authority to bind the defendant by the contract
which he made with the Merchants’ Bank. (3) Where a party deals with a cor-
poration in-good faith, the transaction is not ultra vires, and he is unaware of
any defect of authority or other irregularity on the part of those acting for the
corporation, and there is nothing to exeite suspicion of such defect or irregularity,
the corporation is bound by the contract, although such defect or irregularity in
fact exists. If the contract can be valid under any circumstances, an innocent
party in such a case has a right to presume their existence, and the corporation
is estopped to deny them. The jury should have been instructed to apply this
rule to the evidence before them. The principle has become axiomatic in the
law of corpotrations, and by no tribunal has it been applied with more firmness and
vigor than by this court. Corporations are liable for every wrong of which they are
guilty, and in such cases the doctrine of ultra vires has no application. Corpora-
_ tions are liable for the acts of their servants while engaged in the business of their
employment in the same manner and to the same extent that individuals are liable
under like circumstances. HEstoppel in pais presupposes an error or a fault, and im-
plies an act in itself invalid. 'The rule proceeds upon the consideration that the au-
thor of the misfortune shall not himself escape the consequences, and cast the bur-
den upon another. Smith was the cashier of the State Bank. As such he approach-
ed the Merchants’ Bank. The bank did not approach him. Upon the faith of hig
acts and declarations it parted with its property. The misfortune occurred through
him, and, as the case appears in the record, upon the plainest principles of jus-
tice the loss should fall upon the defendant. The ethics and the law of the case
alike require this result. Those who created the trust, appointed the trustee, and
clothed him with the powers that enabled him to mislead, if there were any mis-
leading, ought to suffer, rather than the other party.”

As to the cashier’s powers to certify the checks the court said:

“The questions whether the requisite authority was not inferable, and whether
the principle of estoppel in pais did not apply, should in this connection also have
been left to the jury.”

In Martin v. Webb, 110 U. 8. 7, 14,:3'Sup. Ct. 428, 433, the court, in
considering the power and authority of a cashier to bind the bank in
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the transaction of business which is ordinarily solely within the
power of the board of directors, said:

“It is quite true, as contended by counsel for appellants, that a cashier of a
bank has no power, by virtue of his office, to bind the corporation, except in the
discharge of his ordinary duties, and that the ordinary business of a bank does
not comprehend a contract made by a cashier—without delegation of power by
the board of directors—involving the payment of money not loaned by the bank
in the customary way. Bank v. Dunn, 6 Pet. 51; U. 8. v. City Bank of Colum-
bus, 21 How. 356; Merchants’ Bank v. State Bank, 10 Wall. 604. Ordinarily he
has no power to discharge a debtor without payment, nor to surrender the assets
or securities of the bank. And, strictly speaking, he may not, in the absence of
authority conferred by the directors, cancel its deeds of trust given as security
for money loaned,—certainly not unless the debt secured is paid. As the execu-
tive officer of the bank, he transacts its business under the orders and supervision
of the board of directors. He is their arm in the management of its financial
operations, While these propositions are recognized in the adjudged cases as
sound, it is clear that a banking corporation may be represented by its cashier,—
at least, where its charter does not otherwise provide,—in transactions outside of
his ordinary duties, without his authority to do so being in writing, or appearing
upon the record of the proceedings of the directors. His authority may be by
parol, and collected from circumstances. It may be inferred from the general
manner in which, for a period sufficiently long to establish a settled course of
business, he has been allowed, without interference, to conduct the affairs of the
bank. It may be implied from the conduct or acquiescence of the corporation,
as represented by the board of directors. When, during a series of years, or in
numerous business transactions, he has been permitted, without objection, and in
his official capacity, to pursue a particular course of conduct, it may be pre-
sumed, as between the bank and those who in good faith deal with it upon the
basis of his authority to represent the corporation, that he has acted in conformity
with Instructions received from those who have the right to control its operations.”

There was some material and substantial testimony to justify the
jury in drawing the inference that Frick’s undertaking to pay the
judgment of Robinson against Hoy & Butler was executed by him
on behalf of the bank, and that he took the assignment of that judg-
ment as its tfrustee, believing the transaction would be beneficial to
the bank. The bank had in its possession a draft of Hoy & Butler
in the sum of $8,000 for collection. This was attached by Robinson.
Frick supposed at the time that the bank would be liable to the ex-
tent of any judgment which Robinson might recover. If he in good
faith was acting for the bank in giving the undertaking, it would
have been morally, if not legally, bound to indemnify him for any
loss he might have sustained. The assignments of the judgments
were a benefit to the bank. It placed the bank in a position to ob-
tain a benefit by the collection of the Hoy & Butler draft, and a re-
lease of its liability on the undertaking. There is no evidence in
the case tending in' the slightest degree to show any fraud or collu-
sion between Frick and Robingon. The testimony shows that Rob-
inson acted throughout the entire transaction in perfect good faith,
believing, and, as found by the jury, having the right to believe, that
Frick had the authority to act for the bank. Under thesge circum-
stances he parted with property of value. The protection to the
corporation in the management of its affairs rests upon its own
course of conduct. If it conducts its business in the manner pre-
scribed by its by-laws, through its board of directors, it will always
be protected by the courts from any usurpation of power by any of its
officers. 'West St. Louis Sav. Bank v. Shawnee Co. Bank, 95 U. 8,
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557; Wardell v. Railroad Co., 103 U. 8. 651, 657; 4 Thomp. Corp. §
4890. But, when the directors of a bank permit an officer to hold
himself out to the public as being invested with absolute power to
manage and control its affairs in such a manner and for such a
length of time as to lead innocent persons to make contracts with its
officers in the honest belief that such officer is authorized to make
such contracts, the bank cannot repudiate the contract by invoking
any by-law of the corporation which the directors themselves have
negligently allowed to fall into disuse. In addition to the authori-
ties heretofore cited, see Crowley v. Mining Co., 65 Cal. 273; McKier-
nan v. Lenzen, 56 Cal. 61; Ditch Co. v. Zellerbach, 37 Cal. 543; Rail-
way Co. v. Simons (Tex. Civ. App.) 25 S. W. 996; Fifth Ward Sav.
Bank v, First Nat. Bank, 48 N, J. Law, 513, 7 Atl. 318; Hirschmann
v. Railroad Co., 97 Mich. 384, 396, 56 N. W. 842; Greig v. Riordan, 99
Cal. 316, 322, 33 Pac. 913; The Vigilancia, 19 C. C. A. 528, 73 Fed.
452, 456; Milling Co. v. Kaiser (Colo. App.) 35 Pac. 677, 679.

We are of opinion that the court did not err in announcing the
principles of law applicable to this case. Admitting it to be true
that there was considerable testimony which would have justified
the jury to find a different verdict, yet it cannot be said that the
finding of the jury is wholly unsupported by the evidence. The judg-
ment of the circuit court is affirmed, with costs.

ROSS, Circuit Judge. I dissent. This action was brought by the
plaintiff in error, as receiver of the First National Bank of Arling-
ton, Or., to recover from the defendant in error the amount of a
money judgment which that bank obtained in one of the state courts
of Oregon on the 9th day of April, 1893, against a man named Cecil,
in which action a writ of attachment was duly issued, and levied
upon the property of Cecil, to release which the defendant in error
executed a bond by which he undertook and agreed to pay to the
bank the amount of any judgment which might be rendered in its
favor against Cecil. There is no controversy respecting the amount
of that judgment, or respecting the fact that the defendant in error
obligated himself to pay the amount of it. But the contention of
the defendant in error, and the ground upon which he resists the
present action, is that prior to the commencement of this suit that
judgment was assigned by the First National Bank of Arlington to
the defendant in error for a sufficient consideration, and that at the
time of the bringing of the present action the plaintiff in error was
not, therefore, the owner thereof. That assignment was executed
in the name of the bank by one J. E. Frick, who was at the time, and
for years before had been, and for some time thereafter, and up to
the closing of the bank, continued to be, its vice president and acting
president. The circumstances under which the assignment was
made were these: Prior to the bringing of the action of the bank
against Cecil, to wit, November 13, 1888, the defendant in error had
commenced an action in the same court of Oregon against one L. D.
Hoy and one Charles Butler, as partners under the firm name of Hoy
& Butler, fora sum in excess of the amount for which the bank sued
Ceci], and in which action the defendant in error caused a garnish-
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ment to be served on the First National Bank of Arlington, to release
which Hoy & Butler, as- principals, and Frick, as surety, executed
a bond whereby they undertook and agreed to pay to the defendant
in error the amount of any judgment which he should recover in that
action, and thereby procured the discharge of his attachment. At
the time of the service of the garnishment there was in the hands of
the First National Bank of Arlington for collection a draft for $8,000
drawn by Hoy & Butler on Campbell & Co., of Chicago. After the
rendition of the judgment in favor of the bank against Cecil, and on
June 11, 1893, the defendant in error recovered judgment in his
action against Hoy & Butler for an amount in excess of the amount
of the judgment recovered by the bank against Cecil. In this condi-
tion of affairs, Frick, who during all of the times mentioned continued
vice president and acting president of the bank, and, as the testimony
went to show, its real head, nronosed, according to the testimony of
the defendant in error himself, to make this sort. of an exchange:

“The bank got a judgment,” said the witness, “and I gave It a bond, and Frick
was 'a surety on this other bond in the case of Robinson against Hoy & Butler;
and, after the two judgments were obtained, Frick propesed to me, in May, 1893—
Frick made a proposition to me to settle the judgment that way. He assigned
the judgment of the bank to me, and I assigned the Hoy & Butler judgment to
him, and I took his note for the difference. He wrote me letters to have mine
ready; that he would get it fixed up and send pretty soon. Finally he did send
them to me to sign and return. His was signed, and I signed mine and returned
to him. The judgment I got against Hoy & Butler was the larger judgment.
There was something like $1,200 difference, and Frick gave me his note for
the difference. Frick represented the bank. He seemed to be manager of
the bank’s affairs, and represented himself in that way. He signed the judg-
ment, ‘The First National Bank of Arlington, by J. E. Frick, Vice Presi-
dent.’ He represented to me that he was doing business for the bank. That
was my understanding. It was all done for the bank, he assigning me that
judgment. 1 cannot remember the date, but I have it here In black and white.
It was on February 16, 1894, ‘when the judgment and papers reached me., The
agreement was made a good while before. February 16, 1894, was when I re-
ceived it. 1 sent the Judgment which he assigned to me to the clerk’s office at
Condon. It is on file there now.”

Notwithstanding the defendant in error testified that in the trans-
action Frick represented the bank, and that he represented to him
(the witness) that he was doing business for the bank, and that that
was the witnesses’ understanding, the written correspondence be-
tween Frick and the witness altogether fails to bear out that interpre-
tation of the transaction. The record shows that on February 16,
1894, Frick wrote to the defendant in error this letter:

‘“The First National Bank of Arlington.

“Arlington, Oregon, 2/16, 1894.
“J. L. Robinson, Walla Walla— Dear Sir: Herewith please find judgment
against Cecil, assigned, and my note dated at time judgment was taken, bearing
interest, 10%, for difference between the two judgments. I made the note payable
Aug. 15th, to allow plenty of time, and hope it will meet with your approval.
I expect to pay before that time, and stop interest. I made sale of mine at
Baker City. My payments are to come in monthly, about $3,000 a month, com-
mencing April first. Mays, Wilson & Huntington say °‘that the assignments,
when executed, should be attached to judgment-roll docket at the place where the

judgment is entered.’ Sign and return my assignment.
“Yours, J. H. Frick.”
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On February 23, 1894, Frick wrote to the defendant in error, in-
closing him a draft for $12 40, as the “amount you [Robinson] claim
as difference between the amount of my Judgment and note and your
Judgment ¥ February 26, 1894, the defendant in error wrote to Frick,
in which letter the defendant in error claimed that after deductlng
from the amount of his judgment against Hoy & Butler the amount
of the Cecil judgment, and the amount of Frick’s note to the defend-
ant in error, and the amount of $12.40 transmitted in Frick’s letter of
February 23, 1894, there was still a balance due him (Robinson) of
$8.04;. and the writer added:

“I have waited a long time on this matter, and have not crowded you in any
way; and I think that, if you will figzure this matter up, you will see I am right.

If T am not, I am ready to make It right.
“Yours, truly, J. L. Robinson.”

March 6, 1894, Frick wrote to the defendant in error this letter:
“The First National Bank of Arlington.
“Arlington, Oregon, Mch. 6, 1894,

“J. L. Robinson, Esa,, Walla Walla—Dear Sir: Herewith please find 8.04,
amount due you as difference our judgments and note. Please assign and return
my judgment. You had better send yours also to Lucas to be filed.

“Yours, J. B. Frick.”

In answer to which the defendant in error replied as follows:
‘“Walla Walla, Wash., March 19, 1894,

“Mr. J. E. Frick, Arlington, Oregon—Dear Sir: Your letter on receipt of de-
posit just received. It has been in the office here, but you did not have it directed
right, and by chance I got it to-day. Will send you your judgment all signed.

“Yours, truly, J. L. Robinson.”

It is plain, I think, from this correspondence between the parties,
that the asgignment from the defendant in error to Frick of the judg-
ment against Hoy & Butler, thereby releasing Frick of his obligation
to pay it, was an assignment to Frick as an individual, and was not
intended by either of the parties for the benefit of the bank. If so,
why was it not made to the bank? There was no difficulty in the way.
The assignment could have been made to the bank just as easily as
to chk, if it had been intended for the bank, and certainly that
would have been the natural and ordinary course in such event. But
what removes any doubt that might ¢therwise attach to the transac-
tion is the written correspondence between the parties. Not only
was the difference between the amount of the two judgments covered
by the personal note of Frick and two small sums of money paid by
him, but in his letter of February 16, 1894, inclesing his personal
note for that difference in part, he explalned to the defendant in
error why he made the note payable August 15th, and from what
source he expected to pay it. That source was not the bank, but
Frick’s mine. “I made the note,” said Frick in his letter to the de-
fendant in error, “payable August 15th, to allow plenty of time, and
hope it will meet with your approval. I expect to pay it before that
time, and stop interest. I made sale of mine at Baker City. My pay-
ments are to come in monthly, about $3,000 a month, commencing
Avpril first.” This and the other correspondence above quoted be-
tween Frick and the defendant in error cannot be reconciled with the
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claim that the assignment from the defendant in error of his judgment
against Hoy & Butler was to Frick for the benefit of the bank; but,
on the contrary, it unmistakably shows, in my opinion, that the as-
signment by the defendant in error to Frick of the Hoy & Butler
judgment was to him as an individual, and was so intended by both
parties thereto. Such an assignment to Frick did not constitute any
consideration for an assignment by Frick, for the bank and in its
name, of its judgment against the defendant in error. The court
below therefore erred in instructing the jury as it did that:

“To constitute a sufficient consideration to give validity fo the contract, it is
necessary that the bank should have received consideration, or that Robinson
ghould have parted with something that would constitute a consideration. There
must have been either something moving to the bank, or something moving from
Robinson, to constitute a good consideration to make the transfer legal, and it
is immaterial whether it is one or the other. It must be one; but, if Robinson
parted with something of value in consideration of this transfer, it has the same

effect, in law, whether the bank received it or not, that it would if the bank re-
ceived something.”

It is not pretended that Frick was expressly authorized to make the
agsignment to the defendant in error of the bank’s judgment against
Cecil. Buch authority was attempted to be shewn by showing that
he had the management of the affairs of the bank, and that he was
permitted by the directors to appear to the public as the head of the
institution; and, moreover, that the board of directors, by its silence
and failure to repudiate the assignment, in effect ratified it. The
answer to all of this is that the defendant in error was not an inno-
cent party relying upon ostensible authority in Frick, and in good
faith accepting through his hands the bank’s judgment, for value
given the assignor; but, as has been seen, the very proposition made
to the defendant in error by Frick for the exchange of the judgments,
and afterwards embodied in the correspondence between the parties,
carried notice to the defendant in error not only of the possible want
of power in Frick to make the assignment of the bank’s judgment,
but direct and positive notice of such want of power; for he knew
that the assignment he made to Frick of his judgment against Hoy
& Butler was to Frick for his own individual benefit, and the law
thereupon charged him with notice that such an assignment consti-
tuted no consideration for an assignment by Frick of a judgment
belonging to the bank, of which he was the vice president and acting
president. See, in this connection, West St. Louis Sav. Bank v.
Shawnee Co. Bank, 95 U. 8. 557; U. 8. v. City Bank of Columbus, 21
How. 356; Bank v. Dunn, 6 Pet. 61; IMlannagan v. Bank, 56 Fed. 959.
For the reasons stated, I think the judgment should be reversed, and
the cause remanded to the court below for a new trial.

82 F.—19



290 82 FEDERAL REPORTER.

UNITED STATES v. BRYAN et al.
(Circuit Court, N. D. California.- August 23, 1897))
No. 11,791,

POS’I]‘:JMASTER — LiaBruity ForR MoNEY EMBEZZLED BY CLERK — CIVIL SERVICE
AWS. |
It is no defense to an action on the official bond of a postmaster, to re-
cover public funds unaccounted for, that such funds were embezzied by a
clerk appointed under the civil service laws.

Suit for the breach of certain conditions of a postmaster’s bond,
in fajling to account for and pay over to the post-office department the
sum of $9,399.88. Answer that the money was embezzled by a clerk
who held his office under civil service laws. Demurrer to answer.

H. 8. Foote, U. 8. Atty., and Samuel Knight, Asst. U. 8. Atty.
John T. Carey and Page, McCutchen & Eells, for defendants.

MORROW, Circuit Judge. This case comes up on a demurrer to
the answer filed by the defendants to the complaint. The suit is
brought by the United States against William J. Bryan, as principal,
and Jesse D. Carr, William Matthews, William W. Stow, and Henry
Miller, as sureties, for the alleged breach by said defendants of the
conditions of a certain writing obligatory or bond, signed and exe-
cuted by them on July 14, 1886, a copy of which is annexed to and
made a part of the complaint. It is alleged that William J. Bryan
was the postmaster of San Francisco, in the state and Northern dis-
trict of California, from and including the 21st of June, 1886, to and
including the 30th of June, 1890; that, as such postmaster, he gave,
as principal, with the remaining defendants as sureties, his gfficial
bond in the sum of $300,000, for the faithful discharge of all the du-
ties and trusts imposed upon him either by law or the rules or regula-
tions of the post-office department, and faithfully once in three
months, and oftener if thereto required, render accounts of his re-
ceipts and expenditures as postmaster to the post-office department,
in the manner and form prescribed by the postmaster general, and
ghould pay the balance of all moneys that should come to his hands
from money orders issued by him, and should safely keep all the
public money collected by him, or otherwise at any time placed in his
possession and custody, till the same is ordered by the postmaster
general to be transferred or paid out, and should faithfully account
with the United States, in the manner directed by the said postmaster
general, for all money orders which he as postmaster or as agent and
depositary, as aforesaid, should receive for the use and benefit of the
said post-office department. It is further alleged that said William
dJ. Bryan did not well and faithfully execute and discharge the duties
and trusts imposed on him as such postmaster, either by law or the
rules and regulations of the post-office department, and did not once
in three months, or oftener when required, faithfully or otherwise
render an account of his receipts and expenditures as such postmas-
ter to the post-office department in the manner and form prescribed
by the postmaster general in his several instructions to postmasters,



